FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 4/20/2022 3:07 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/20/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 55722-3-II

100855-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GERALD R. LONG,

Appellant,

v.

AUTOZONE #3822; and DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Spencer D. Parr, WSBA No. 42704 Attorney for Appellant, Gerald Long

Washington Law Center 651 Strander Blvd. Bldg. B, Suite 215 Tukwila, WA 98188 Ph: (206) 596-7888

Fax: (206) 457-4900

spencer@washingtonlawcenter.com

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Gerald Long asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part B of this petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division II of the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished decision in Cause No. 55722-3-II on March 22, 2022. A copy of the decision is attached to this petition at A-001 through 011.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does a questionnaire from the Department of Labor and Industries to an Independent Medical Examiner on the physical restrictions in place tied to a specific order qualify as further investigation and thereby toll the protest or appeal deadline under RCW 51.52.060(3).

Does a health care provider's addendum opinion stating a directly contrary belief to an order within the specified protest or appeal period qualify as a valid request for reconsideration?

Does public policy prevent a Department segregation order from being subject to res judicata when the order was induced via clear misrepresentation committed by an Employer's attorney?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Mr. Long sustained an industrial injury on June 23, 2018.

On June 28, 2018, Mr. Long filed a claim for an industrial injury to his low back, right hip, groin and right knee sustained while working for AutoZone #3822. CP at 42. A medical chart note indicated Mr. Long's injury occurred when, "I was unloading freight and was passing 2 rotors to someone when my right foot slipped, causing a sharp pain in my lower back, right groin, and right knee. I then fell to the floor." CP at 42. (emphasis added). Physical examination revealed right knee swelling and antalgic gait. CP at 42. A strain of right hip and thigh, strain of right knee, strain of low back, and contusion of right knee were diagnosed as casually related to the industrial injury. CP at 42. (emphasis added). Initially, the attending physician on the claim was ARNP Mori Yuki who later left her practice, with her mail returned to the Department as undeliverable. CP at 457. Lack of an attending physician on the claim forced the medical analysis in Mr. Long's claim to be left entirely to the opinions of an independent medical evaluator, Dr. William A. Bulley. CP at 457. As a result, there was no attending provider available to act on Mr. Long's behalf, coordinate medical care, nor receive service and respond to Department orders.

2. On four separate occasions Dr. Bulley rendered favorable opinions regarding Mr. Long's right knee condition.

Ten months after the claim was allowed, the Department obtained a medical opinion by Dr. Bulley through an independent medical exam ("IME"). CP at 459. The Department was looking for medical analysis on Mr. Long's accepted conditions of right knee sprain and strain, right hip strain and right knee contusion. CP at 460. Dr. Bulley recommended a right knee MRI. CP at 460. Dr. Bulley indicated that if the MRI was positive, then Mr. Long might benefit from further treatment of the right knee, such as injections or surgery. CP at 460. Dr. Bulley was the only physician Mr. Long was examined by since August 2, 2018. CP at 460. Ultimately, that meant Dr. Bulley was the only physician to ever diagnose or make recommendations regarding Mr. Long's patellar arthritis, and the only medical expert to inform the Department's claim adjudication. CP at 460.

Based upon the IME, the Department issued an order accepting the patellar arthritis of the right knee related to the June 23, 2018 industrial injury. CP at 460. The Employer protested the order stating "typical arthritis of this nature isn't asymptomatic . . . Mr. Long jumped out of helicopters in the military and had shared before he started working for AutoZone that he had bad knees." CP at 461. The Department then held its decision in abeyance. The Department requested an addendum from Dr. Bulley on March 14, 2019 to address the Employer's protest. CP at 461. The very next

day, Dr. Bulley responded to the Department's request and indicated Mr. Long's military activities did not change his opinion on Mr. Long's industrial injury aggravating his right knee patellar arthritis. CP at 462.

3. Defense counsel presented a vaguely worded survey to Dr. Bully which misrepresented Mr. Long's work injury.

Four days after Dr. Bulley's reply to the Department, Dr. Bulley was contacted by the Employer's attorney, James Gress. Correspondence from that contact was filed to the Department on April 11, 2019. CP at 462. It appeared that Mr. Gress was able to obtain Dr. Bulley's signature on Employer's misleading questionnaire that consisted of confusing compositions crafted by Mr. Gress. CP at 462. Dr. Bulley was informed by Employer's counsel that Mr. Long's case was not allowed on a final and binding basis. CP at 462. Dr. Bulley was misled to believe that claimant was alleging two separate left knee injuries, only one of which involved a fall. CP at 463. However, Mr. Long was not alleging two separate right knee injuries, and in any event fell on his right knee in both incidents recorded by the Employer. Via misinformation, Employer obtained Dr. Bulley's initial, confused response that Dr. Bulley could no longer state whether the patellar arthritis aggravation and resulting need for treatment was proximately related to the June 23, 2018 industrial injury. CP at 463.

4. The Department sought further information from Dr. Bully on the same day that it issued denied responsibility for Mr. Long's condition.

On April 15, 2019, the Department issued a denial of the right knee patellar arthritis. CP at 468. That same day it also requested an addendum regarding work restrictions in light of Dr. Bulley's communications with Employer's counsel. CP at 464, 465. On April 16, 2019, Dr. Bulley responded, and again indicated that the June 26, 2018 industrial injury is the cause of Mr. Long's right knee patellar arthritis aggravation. CP at 466. Ignoring Dr. Bulley's unambiguous and uncontroverted response, on May 20, 2019, the Department sent another addendum request to Dr. Bulley for work restrictions, this time explicitly stating that the right knee patellar arthritis was denied under the claim. CP at 466. The Department thereafter issued a closing order on June 3, 2019. CP at 467.

5. Mr. Long retained an attorney when the Department failed to consider Dr. Bully's supportive position in his third addendum.

On June 26, 2019, Mr. Long retained undersigned counsel, who filed a notice of representation and general protest with the Department the same day. This was 73 days after the Department's right knee patellar arthritis segregation order, but within 60 days of the Department's most recent addendum request. Mr. Long's counsel also sent a secure message on September 9, 2019, asserting that the segregated condition was improperly

denied and was protested by Dr. Bulley's third addendum. CP at 468. The Department responded by indicating that the patellar arthritis segregation protest was untimely. CP at 468.

Mr. Long appealed the Department's denial. The Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals then granted Employer's motion for summary judgment. CP at 141. Claimant appealed to Superior Court. CP at 1. The Superior Court upheld the Board's decision and granted Employer's motion for summary judgment. CP at 562. The Court of Appeals later upheld the Superior Court decision. App. 001 – 011.

Appellant now requests this Court grant review and reverse the Court of Appeals decision and find that the Department's segregation order did not become final and binding, because it was suspended by operation of an addendum request; because the April 16, 2019 addendum by Dr. Bulley should be treated as a protest from a "health services provider"; and because it would be fundamentally unfair to apply the doctrine of res judicata to an order induced via clear misrepresentation made by an Employer's counsel.

V. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b) states that a petition for review will be accepted if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. When determining whether the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest, the Court looks at three

factors: "(1) whether the issue is of public or private nature; (2) whether an authoritative determination is desirable to provide future guidance to public officers; and (3) whether the issue is likely to recur." Westerman v. Cary, 125 Wn.2d 277, 286, 892 P.2d 1067 (1994) (quoting Hart v. Department of Social & Health Servs., 111 Wn.2d 445, 445, 759 P.2d 1206 (1988)).

Here, the issue at hand involves public interest in "reducing to a minimum the suffering and economic loss" for injured workers. RCW 51.12.010. This case presents a situation in which, objectively, an injured worker would reasonably believe (s)he had more time to file a protest or appeal because an adjudicative process was still evolving based upon a Department addendum request. Additionally, an IME consultant was performing the same functions of an attending provider, so the IME consultant's expert opinions should be given full consideration. Finally, this case presents a situation where it would be fundamentally unfair to apply the doctrine of res judicata in a manner that would prevent the Department's reconsideration of its segregation order.

Determination of the Department's authority and injured workers' rights will provide useful guidance to Department adjudicators, the Washington State Attorney General's office, and Industrial Appeals Judges at the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals. Such issues are likely to recur in many workers' compensation claims.

The Court of Appeals misinterpreted the procedural rights of an injured worker to either protest or appeal departmental decisions, either of which fully-preserves the injured worker's rights. The Court of Appeals found that failure to "protest" timely within 60 days therefore prevented Mr. Long's "appeal" rights from being considered within that same 60 days. This is in clear error because the words "protest" and "appeal" are equivalent procedures, and historically, a misdirected filing to either the Board or the Department is simply forwarded to the other. The Court of Appeals "plain language" analysis is logically-incoherent and lead it to disregard that an addendum request made by the Department within the statutory, 60 day, overlapping protest/appeal period fully preserves an injured worker's rights to challenge a Department order. As such, this Court should accept this petition and grant review.

1. Protecting injured workers' rights and pursuing the purpose of the Industrial Insurance Act are issues of a public nature.

The fundamental, statutorily-prescribed purpose of the Industrial Insurance Act is to "reduce to a minimum the suffering" of injured workers. RCW 51.12.010. The Act is remedial and "should be liberally construed, with all doubts resolved in favor of the worker." Simpson Timber Co. v. Wentworth, 96 Wn. App. 731, 735-36, 981 P.2d 878 (Wash. Ct. App. 1999).

In this claim, Mr. Long, like innumerable injured workers that will follow after him, requires a public determination and clarification of his rights.

A. The Department tolled Mr. Long's protest period when it sought out further information from Dr. Bully.

An injured worker's right to request reconsideration of a departmental order arises from RCW 51.52.050. When a departmental order is issued, a worker - or other enumerated parties - may protest or appeal the order within 60 days of receipt. *Id.*; RCW 51.52.060. However, if the Department directs the submission of more evidence or information of any further fact, that period of 60 days is tolled until the Department provides a further order. RCW 51.52.060(3). Despite the Court of Appeals misinterpretation of RCW 51.52.060(3) to solely apply to appeals rather than protests, whereas they are equivalent procedures, any further investigation tolls the appeal deadline and therefore prevents a department order from becoming final and binding.¹

In a significant Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals case, *In re Clarence Haugen*, the Board analyzed the interplay between RCW 51.52.050, the only statute that explicitly mentions requests for reconsideration (referred to as protests) and RCW 51.52.060 regarding appeals. BIIA Dec., 91 1687 (1991). In *Haugen*, the Board stated: "[i]n interpreting the provisions of RCW 51.52.050 and RCW 51.52.060 we have indicated that requests for reconsideration and notices of appeal should be treated consistently." *Id.* at 3. The Board further explained that prior to 1982 there was no statutory authority for filing protests or requests for reconsideration with the Department. Rather, an informal process had developed and derived authority from RCW 51.52.060. *Id.* at 2 fn.

Here, on April 15, 2019, the Department issued an order segregating Mr. Long's condition of right knee patellar arthritis. CP at 464, 465. On the same date, the Department reached out to Dr. Bully with a request that stated: "in light of your recent correspondence with James L. Gress regarding the condition of patellar arthritis, are there any work restrictions with regard to the injury of 06/23/2018?" CP at 186. This is vague language that could easily confuse an injured worker as to its intent. The request explicitly seeks further information and evidence on an issue directly related to the segregation order issued by the Department - and on the same day the segregation order was issued.

This request for information was not only received by Dr. Bully, who later answered the request indicating that he still believed the condition was explicitly aggravated by the work injury, but also by Mr. Long. Whether the Department workers had a subjective intent to use the survey as a means of continuing to investigate the segregation order or toll the protest period is irrelevant. The relevant question is what the objective observer could interpret from the survey. Mr. Long could have reasonably understood that the Department's request was conducting a further inquiry, as apparently Dr. Bulley also did, and therefore Mr. Long's protest period was statutorily tolled until the Department issued a further determinative order. As such, regardless of Dr. Bully's adequate protest on April 16, 2019 through his

survey response, Mr. Long's request for reconsideration on all standing orders through his notice of representation was also sufficient and timely. Meanwhile, the Department was also required to issue further order once it sought out further facts "concerning" Mr. Gress' misrepresentations.

The Court of Appeals accurately indicated that no case law explicitly addresses what it means for the Department to direct submission of further evidence. App 008. However, the court then cites in part to dicta in Brakus v. Dep't of Labor & Indus, 48 Wn.2d, 218, 222, 292 P.2d 865 (1956), and attempts to make the argument that the Department could not have been directing the "submission of further evidence" when it sought clarification on work restrictions from Dr. Bully. RCW 51.52.060(3). They reason that such action does not qualify because seeking that information could not be interpreted as indication that the Department believed it was mistaken as to the cause or extent of Mr. Long's injury. This disregards the plain language of the statute and creates new, unintentional law requiring injured workers to be able to ultimately grasp the Department's meaning from vague requests for information. The navigability of the Industrial Insurance Act and the clarity and directness of the Department of Labor and Industries is an important issue of a public nature which justifies this Court's review.

B. Dr. Bully's response to the Department's survey directly contradicting the segregation order constitutes a timely protest.

Within the realm of a Washington state worker's compensation claim, an attending provider is defined as an independently licensed medical professional that is actively treating the injured worker. WAC 296-20-01002. An attending provider in a worker's compensation claim is unique in being entitled to notice of certain decisions. Shafer v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 166 Wn.2d 710, 213 P.3d 591 (2009). In Shafer, the court stated that the person responsible for treating an injured worker must be permitted to participate in the process that can result in closing and act as an advocate. Id. Prior to the April 15, 2019 segregation order, Mr. Long had not been treated by his attending provider for over eight months. CP at 460. He had no one to act as an advocate for him. Only Dr. Bulley could potentially fill that role, and the Department treated Dr. Bulley as such at various times.

A health services provider is defined as "any person, firm, corporation, partnership, association, agency, institution or other legal entity providing any kind of services related to the treatment of an industrially injured worker." WAC 296-20-01002. This is very broad language that omits reference to a "treating" relationship.

WAC 296-23-307 delineates some of the reasons that Independent Medical Examinations are requested by the Department or Self-Insured Employers and includes establishing a diagnosis and outlining a program of treatment. Those are "services" related to the injured worker's treatment.

The question before the Supreme Court is: why is the opinion of an IME provider who is charged with ordering diagnostic tests, providing treatment recommendations, and stating prophylactic restrictions not a "service" related to the injured worker's treatment and health? The Industrial Insurance Act was designed to be liberally construed in favor of injured workers. See Dennis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 109 Wn.2d 467, 470, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987). In pursuit of that goal, "health services provider" should be liberally defined under the Act. This Court should find that any qualified medical expert performs a health "service" by rendering opinions for consideration by the Department. Dr. Bully should qualify as a health services provider who is able to request reconsideration of a Departmental order, especially where he was acting in place of an attending provider because Mr. Long was without his own doctor. CP at 187.

Even if a more constrained interpretation of health services provider is adopted, Dr. Bulley should still meet the requirement due to his providing consulting "services" repeatedly in Mr. Long's claim. Other consulting physicians who are not IME physicians often play a similar or indistinguishable roll in other claims, validating diagnoses and

recommending treatment courses even if never taking over the injured worker's care responsibilities or the title of "attending provider."

The analysis should be centered on the plain language of the word "service" and recognize that Dr. Bulley did provide health-related "services" in Mr. Long's claim. If Mr. Long's claim is rejected here because the sole medical expert analyst in his case never became a "treating" physician, then the opinions of other consulting physicians can also presumably be rejected. Such a conclusion would degrade the rights of all injured workers and lessen their access to medical care. The Industrial Insurance Act would be eroded and fail to serve its purposes.

RCW 51.52.060(1)(a) explicitly lists who is able to request reconsideration of Department orders. It states that "a worker, beneficiary, employer, health services provider, or other person aggrieved by an order, decision, or award of the department" may request reconsideration of Department decisions. RCW 51.52.060(1)(a). A health services provider, not an attending provider, is listed as a party able to protest or appeal the order. The plain language of RCW 51.52.060(1)(a) is intentionally broad and inclusive. As such, Dr. Bully's response to the Department's survey on work restrictions received less than thirty days after their segregation order where he states that the condition was in fact aggravated by work is a valid and timely protest. Whether Dr. Bully's subjective intent was actually to

protest the order is also irrelevant. *Boyd v. City of Olympia*, 1 Wn.App. 2d 17, 403 P.3d 956 (2017). The contents of his response objectively suffice.

Alternatively, RCW 51.52.060(1)(a) also states that in addition to the parties mentioned above, a "person aggrieved" by a decision may protest or appeal. An aggrieved party is one who's proprietary, pecuniary, or personal right is substantially affected by the Department's determination. In re Chambers Bay Golf Course, BIIA Dec. 09 20604 (2010). A doctor has a liberty interest in his professional reputation. Lawrence v. Dep't of Health, 133 Wn.App.165, 674, 138 P.3d 124, 128 (2006). Doctors are paid for their expert opinions, so doctors have an intermingled pecuniary and reputational interest in their opinions being duly considered and respected.

In both circumstances, ensuring that the Industrial Insurance Act is liberally construed and that injured workers receive adequate support within their claims, including when diagnoses and care are being directed by an IME physician, are important issues of a public nature and likely to frequently recur.

C. Applying res judicata to the segregation order of Mr. Long's right knee patellar arthritis would be manifestly unjust.

Mr. Long should be entitled to challenge the segregation of right knee patellar arthritis in his claim because the Department's 4/15/2019 order works a manifest injustice. There is zero medical expert opinion

denying the causal relationship of his aggravated right knee patellar arthritis or indicating that he does not need definitive care, potentially including surgery. The Department failed to consider the full and complete opinions of Dr. Bulley in context, while a workable justice system cannot tolerate such one-sided focus as was paid by the Department here. An IME opinion cannot be good for the Employer but useless to the worker. Res judicata and collateral estoppel are both equitable doctrines. Washington state courts have been clear that neither doctrine will apply to Department orders where such application would create a manifest injustice. See Somsak v. Criton Technologies/Health Tecna, Inc., 113 Wash. App. 84, 92, 52 P.3d 43 (2002) (res judicata will not be applied to department wage orders where the wage order fails to clearly detail the basis of the Department's findings); Weaver v. City of Everett, 450 P.3d 177 (2019) (collateral estoppel could not apply to an injured worker's claim because preclusion of the claim "would work an injustice" under the facts presented).

In Weaver, this Court explained that res judicata is not to be "applied too rigidly as to defeat the ends of justice, or to work an injustice." 450 P.3d 177 (2019). Yet, here it clearly would. This Court further explained that the application of res judicata within manifestly unjust scenarios would infringe upon the entire purpose of the Industrial Insurance Act. Id.

Here, Dr. Bully provided three separate opinions supporting Mr. Long's condition being aggravated by his work injury - his initial report on December 5, 2018; his response to whether Mr. Long's past changed his opinion on March 15, 2019; and his response to the Department's inquiry about work restrictions on April 16, 2019. Only once did Dr. Bully seemingly indicate that he did not believe that Mr. Long's condition was aggravated by his industrial injury, but that was in response to a misleading questionnaire that misrepresented the known facts.² It is unjust and improper for the Department to allow an IME physician's opinion to serve the self-interested position of the employer while denying the benefits of that same IME physician's opinion to the injured worker.

2. An authoritative determination on this matter would provide future guidance to numerous public officers.

The need to clarify the governance of the Industrial Insurance Act is a matter of continuing and substantial public interest that presents an opportunity to guide the Department and its agents where similar, if not

² On March 19, 2019, four days after Dr. Bulley's first favorable addendum, defense counsel obtained and filed an ambiguously phrased, check-box style, self-drafted survey signed by Dr. Bulley. The survey framed the facts as two different injuries, one involving a fall in Employer's bathroom resulting in a knee contusion, and one being a freight-involved slip not involving a fall. In other words, defense counsel materially or fraudulently misrepresented to Dr. Bulley that the freight incident of 6/23/18 did not involve a fall, when in fact it did. Defense counsel manipulated Dr. Bulley to believe that the aggravated right patellar arthritis was from the bathroom-fall incident which caused no injury and no workers' compensation claim. CP at 461.

identical, scenarios are likely to reoccur. See, e.g., Dunner v. McLaughlin, 100 Wash.2d 832, 838, 676 P.2d 444 (1984) (law surrounding adult civil commitment needed clarification because the proceedings were a matter of continuing and substantial public interest). Here, an authoritative determination is needed to provide reinforcement of the Industrial Insurance Act, and to remind the Department and the courts the purpose behind the Act—to be liberally applied in the favor of the injured worker.

There are four different times Dr. Bulley provided favorable opinions regarding Mr. Long's patellar arthritis condition. The Department, its claim managers, Industrial Appeals Judges and assistant attorney generals are in need of further guidance to help them understand the weight that should be given to the opinions of an IME physician where no attending provider is present. Further, these various public officers need clarification on the affect the Department's seeking of further action has on tolling orders, the validity of a healthcare provider's protest (even if they are simultaneously an IME opinion provider), and the inapplicability of res judicata in circumstances where an order has been induced via identifiable misrepresentation. Therefore, an authoritative determination on this matter is imperative for all parties and the public more generally.

3. The issues presented today are highly likely to recur.

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