FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/12/2022 8:22 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 100855-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GERALD R. LONG,

Petitioner,

v.

AUTOZONE #3822 and DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Anastasia Sandstrom Senior Counsel WSBA No. 24163 Office Id. No. 91018 800 Fifth Ave., Ste. 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-6993

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

IV. ARGUMENT

RCW 51.52.050 and .060 require a worker to protest a

Department order or appeal a Department order within 60 days
of the order if the worker wishes to contest the order. Failure to
appeal the order results in a final order that may not later be

challenged even if the decision is incorrect. *Marley v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus.*, 125 Wn.2d 533, 538, 886 P.2d 189 (1994). Long concedes that he did not protest within 60 days of the order. Pet. 8. Instead, he claims that an independent medical examiner provider, who provided a neutral report to the Department, protested the order when he filed a Department-requested addendum to the report about a different topic (work restrictions) than the contested order (segregation). But his claim that Dr. Bulley protested the segregation order is precluded by Dr. Bulley's lack of standing as an IME provider to protest. Similarly, Long's arguments about RCW 51.52.060's tolling and appeal provisions fail.

The plain language of RCW 51.52.050 and .060 provide no relief for Long. Long claims there is an issue of substantial public interest based on (1) the canon of liberal construction for ambiguous industrial insurance statutes (RCW 51.12.010); (2) the belief that because the Department was adjudicating the case after the segregation order was decided, that this left the

right to protest open after 60 days of the order; (3) an argument that an independent medical examiner had standing to protest an order; (4) an issue about res judicata, not raised at the Court of Appeals; and (5) an argument that requests for reconsideration and appeals to the Board have equivalent procedures. Pet. 10-11. None of the claims show an issue of substantial public interest because they are based on a fundamental misunderstanding of the statutes governing requests for reconsideration (RCW 51.52.050) and notices of appeal to the Board (RCW 51.52.060), as well as the law of standing.

A. RCW 51.52.060's Tolling Provision Is Neither Applicable nor Demonstrated

No statute tolled Long's duty to file a timely protest, and Long's reliance on RCW 51.52.060's tolling provisions is misplaced. While RCW 51.52.060 tolls Board appeal periods in limited circumstances, those provisions do not apply to a protest under RCW 51.52.050, and in any event, the Department did not take the action it would need to take to

trigger the tolling provisions when it did not direct the parties to submit further evidence. So Long is incorrect in arguing that the statute of limitations was tolled under RCW 51.52.060. AB 2.

RCW 51.52.060(3) provides that

If within the time limited for filing a notice of appeal to the board from an order, decision, or award of the department, the department directs the submission of further evidence or the investigation of any further fact, the time for filing the notice of appeal shall not commence to run until the person has been advised in writing of the final decision of the department in the matter.

(Emphasis added.)

On its face, this statute does not apply here because it only governs appeals "to the Board." RCW 51.52.060(1). This case involves whether Dr. Bulley's addendum was a request for reconsideration—a protest—to the Department under RCW 51.52.050, so RCW 51.52.060(3) is not implicated.

Long provides no valid reason why RCW 51.52.060(3) is implicated. Long argues that "[d]espite the Court of Appeals misinterpretation of RCW 51.52.060(3) to solely apply to

appeals rather than protests, whereas they are equivalent procedures[.]" Pet. 12. It is true that both statutes provide a method to challenge an order, but usage of different language in two statutory provisions demonstrates a difference in legislative intent. *Guillen v. Contreras*, 169 Wn.2d 769, 776, 238 P.3d 1168 (2010). And contrary to Long's assumption, the statutes unambiguously provide for different procedures.

Even if the statute applies, the Department did not "direct the submission of further evidence" as Long argues. See AB 7. The statutory language plainly calls for the submission of evidence related to the order at issue in the notice of appeal: "If within the time limited for filing a notice of appeal to the board from an order . . . of the department, the department directs the submission of further evidence or the investigation of any further fact, the time for filing the notice of appeal shall not commence to run." RCW 51.52.060(3) (emphasis added).

Here the adjudication was about work restrictions, not segregation:

Please review your report and the worker's claim file and answer the following questions(s): In light of your recent correspondence with James L. Gress regarding the condition of patellar arthritis, are there any work restrictions with regard to the injury of 06/23/2018? If so, please provide them.

The job of injury job analysis is imaged 12/04/2018 VOC, pages 1-6. Please review the JA and answer[] the questions on page 6.

CP 204.

This doesn't implicate RCW 51.52.060, nor is it vague language to confuse a worker. *Contra* Pet. 13.

B. The Health Services Provider Provision in the Notice of Appeal Statute, RCW 51.52.060 Doesn't Apply to Proceedings Under RCW 51.52.050

Again, raising the failing argument that RCW 51.52.060 applies, Long claims that Dr. Bulley was a "health service provider" under RCW 51.52.060(1)(a) and so could request reconsideration. Pet. 17. But, as explained above, RCW 51.52.060 doesn't apply to proceedings under RCW 51.52.050. Long doesn't deny that he didn't file an appeal with the Board, admitting that he seeks application of the reconsideration statute. *E.g.*, Pet. 8.

In any event, IME providers are not health services providers. A "health care provider" is "any person, firm, corporation, partnership, association, agency, institution, or other legal entity providing any kind of services related to the treatment of an industrially injured worker." RCW 51.08.095 (emphasis added). Long argues that the "question before the Supreme Court is: why is the opinion of an IME provider who is charged with ordering diagnostic tests, providing treatment recommendations, and stating prophylactic restrictions not a 'service' related to the injured worker's treatment and health?" Pet. 16. But doctors that provide independent medical reports don't treat injured workers and are defined as "independent medical examination (IME) provider[s]" because they do not provide treatment to workers. See WAC 296-23-302. Under this rule, IME providers do not provide treatment or related services to workers. Rather they are providing an objective evaluation of the worker's condition for medical-legal reasons:

Independent medical examination (IME) - An objective medical-legal examination requested (by the department or self-insurer) to establish medical findings, opinions, and conclusions about a worker's physical condition. These examinations may only be conducted by department-approved examiners.

WAC 296-23-302. And showing that there is no treatment relationship between the worker and the IME provider is the fact that an IME provider cannot offer to provide treatment services to a worker:

May an independent medical examination (IME) provider offer to provide ongoing treatment to the worker?

No. However, if a worker voluntarily approaches an IME provider who has previously examined the worker and asks to be treated by that provider, the provider can treat the worker. The provider must document that the worker was aware of other treatment options.

WAC 296-23-357.²

² By rule, an IME provider is responsible to, inter alia, "[c]onduct an examination that is unbiased, sound and sufficient to achieve the purpose and reason the examination was requested." WAC 296-23-347(2)(i). And the IME provider has to "[r]eview the purpose of the examination and the

Long argues for a liberal interpretation of health "service" provider. Pet. 16, 22-23. But liberal interpretation only applies to ambiguous statutes. *Harris v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus.*, 120 Wn.2d 461, 474, 843 P.2d 1056 (1993), and there is no ambiguous statute here. The statutes unambiguously provide that an IME provider's role is to provide a report based on an independent examination, and that IMEs do not and cannot treat workers, as would be required for them to be health services providers under RCW 51.08.095.

questions to be answered in the examination report." WAC 296-23-347(1)(d). WAC 296-23-347 lists 18 duties of the examiner and none require the examiner to provide treatment or advocacy on the workers' behalf. The rule directs review of the medical examiner's handbook, which provides that examiners are to provide "unbiased, objective examinations and ratings to help us administer claims effectively and fairly." WAC 296-23-347(1)(a). All of these rules demonstrate that an IME provider is in its own category under RCW Title 51 and not that of a health service provider that is oriented to treatment services. See RCW 51.08.095.

C. IME Providers Are Not Aggrieved by Department Orders

The request for reconsideration statute also doesn't provide that Dr. Bulley could protest the order. Long argues that Dr. Bulley was also an aggrieved party under RCW 51.52.050(2)(a). But a party must be aggrieved in order to protest or appeal. In re Chambers Bay Golf Course, No. 09 20604, 2010 WL 5882060, *2 (Bd. Indus. Ins. Appeals Dec. 7, 2010). In *Chambers Bay*, the Board stated that, "to be a 'person aggrieved' by a decision of the Department, as that term is used in RCW 51.52.050 and RCW 51.52.060, requires that the person have a proprietary, pecuniary, or personal right which is substantially affected by the Department's determination." Chambers Bay, 2010 WL 5882060 at *2. This is consistent with case law from other contexts. See, e.g., State v. Taylor, 150 Wn. 2d 599, 603, 80 P.3d 605 (2003) ("We have defined 'aggrieved party' as one whose personal right or pecuniary interests have been affected.").

An IME provider has no interest in the outcome of a worker's compensation claim. Although Long argues that "[d]octors are paid for their expert opinions, so doctors have an intermingled pecuniary and reputational interest in their opinions being duly considered and respected," he shows no interest. Pet. 18. There is no money issue, and Long has made no showing that Dr. Bulley's reputation was affected by the order, nor is it plausible that Dr. Bulley submitted the report in an attempt to defend his honor rather than because the Department asked him for additional information regarding Long's ability to work. As an IME provider, he would know that his opinions are for consultative purposes only and that the Department is not required to rely on them.

D. Long's Remaining Argument Should Be Disregarded Because He Didn't Raise It Below

Long argues that operation of res judicata would operate as a manifest injustice. Pet. 18-19. This argument should be disregarded because he didn't raise it below. *See* AB 1-15. In any event, Long had the opportunity to appeal from the

segregation order, but he didn't. Nor does he claim that he did not understand what the segregation order did or show any reason why he could not have filed his own timely protest from the decision. This is hardly unjust.

V. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny the petition.

This document contains 3,577 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.